in the supreme court of florida FILED sid J. White

SEP 20 1995

JEFFERY A. FARINA,

Defendant/Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

CLERK, SUPREME COMPLETE

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 80,985

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0353973 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

At 2:18 on the morning of May 9, 1992, Daytona Beach police received a "911" emergency telephone call reporting a robbery in progress at a Taco Bell restaurant. (TR13-16;20-21; State's Exhibit 1). Less than four minutes later, police entered the restaurant and met with 16-year-old Derek Mason, a Taco Bell employee. (TR55-58;98-100). Mason, who had been shot in the mouth, directed police to the rear of the restaurant where two other employees, 18-year-old Kimberly Gordon and 17-year-old Michelle Van Ness, were lying unconscious with their hands tied behind their back on the floor of a walk-in freezer. (TR34-35;59-61;125;359;617;359-60). Ms. Van Ness had been shot in the head and Ms. Gordon had been stabbed in the back. (TR61-63). A fourth Taco Bell employee, 19-year-old Gary Robinson, had been shot in the chest and was found kneeling in a rear office where he had remained after making the 911 telephone call. (TR70-73;328).

¹ (R) refers to the transcripts up to and including Volume 21; (TR) refers to the transcripts of the trial commencing with Volume 22.

Paramedics quickly arrived. Mason declined treatment so the more seriously injured could be cared for - he explained what had happened, provided descriptions of an automobile and two assailants, and told police he recognized the robber who had a tattoo of a burning heart on his right shoulder as an ex-employee of Taco Bell named "Tony." (TR67-72). With Mason's help, police found the personnel file of Anthony Farina. (TR67-72;134-35). It was later determined that Mason, Van Ness and Robinson had been shot with the same .32 caliber revolver. (TR314-319). Ms. Van Ness died the next day without regaining consciousness. (TR96;271). Mr. Robinson stayed in intensive care for seven days. (TR343). Mason was released from the hospital after three days (TR140) and Gordon after nine days. (TR382-83).

and his 16-year-old brother Jeffery were arrested on the same day of the incident, May 9, 1992, after another Taco Bell employee called police when she saw Anthony buying gasoline at a local service station. (TR167-72;279-80;2156-57). On May 11, 1992, two days after the incident, the three defendants were transported to the Daytona Beach Police Department in a patrol car equipped with hidden equipment to monitor their conversations, and two defendants were left in the police car as the third was processed. (R375-81). Inside the police station, each defendant signed a waiver of rights form and was questioned. (R360-61;426-35;445-50;476-81). Then, the defendant was returned to the police car with the others so their conversations could be monitored and recorded. (R379).

Following an evidentiary hearing (R356-392;425-570) on motions² to suppress those statements, the court ruled that the statements obtained from Jeffery Farina by the fingerprint expert were inadmissible because the agent improperly questioned Jeffery after the right to counsel was invoked. (R2857). The court refused to suppress the statements intercepted while the defendants were in the rear of the police car. (R2847-61). John Henderson's case was severed. (R2430-31).

FACTS CONCERNING JURY SELECTION/CHANGE OF VENUE

Jeffery and Anthony Farina moved to change venue. (R241; 2862-64). Appended to that motion were newspaper articles showing extensive local media coverage of the incident and great community awareness of the crime. (R2253-78). The court denied the motion without prejudice. (R246-47). It was supplemented with additional newspaper articles unsuccessfully renewed by both defendants during voir dire. (R1748;2525-46). The court stated without explanation that it was "striking all these addendums (sic) that have been filed since we began." (R1988).

The morning of trial, Anthony moved to recuse Judge Orfinger following the denial of a motion seeking to disqualify the state attorney's office for misconduct. (R2504-23). Judge Orfinger granted Anthony's motion and on his own recused himself from

With permission of the court (R333-335), Jeffery Farina adopted motions to suppress the statements obtained while he was in the police car, alleging that secret electronic interception of the conversation was an unreasonable search and seizure and violation of his right to privacy under the Fourth, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution, and Chapter 934, Florida Statutes. (R561-563).

presiding over Jeffery Farina's case. (R981-82). Judge Blount arrived later that morning, announced that he had read and was familiar with the court file, ratified all prior rulings (R994), and ruled that a change of venue would be taken up if it became necessary. (R997-98). Jury selection began.

Voir dire established that the vast majority of citizens, after discussing the case with others, had concluded that serious crimes had occurred. The court denied challenges for cause as to such jurors, stating; "He can presume that. I read him an indictment that says there was." (R1901); "I told them that during the course of the trial. I think that question is a little bit silly, to be honest with you[.]" (R2055-56). Six additional peremptory challenges were provided and exhausted; requests for more by both defendants were denied. (R1625;1671;1946;1989;2064-66). As a result, jurors who had discussed the facts of the case with other and who concluded "horrendous" crimes had occurred served on the jury after the defendants' challenges for cause were denied.

Marriott believed that crimes were committed and told his wife that "it was a horrendous deal." (R2061-62). Challenges for cause were denied (R2064-66) and he served on the jury. Stewart had a "fixed assumption" that crimes were committed. (R2053). Challenges for cause were denied (R2064-66) and she served on the jury. Marley believed that crimes were committed. (R2042-43). Challenges for cause were denied and he served on the jury. stated he could give the defendants a fair trial "if they deserve one." (R1955-57). Challenges for cause were denied (R1983-85) and he served on the jury. Connover stated that, based on her knowledge of the crime, she would vote for the death penalty. (R1283). Challenges for cause were denied (R1303) and she was peremptorily struck by Jeffery Farina. (1303-04). Moran agreed that, to him, the only question was "who did it" and stated he expected the defendants to prove their innocence. (R1740). Challenges for cause were denied and he was peremptorily struck by Jeffery Farina. (R1744-47).

The court granted the State's challenges to jurors who were against the death penalty in general but who unequivocally stated they could follow the court's instructions. (Heffelfinger-R1289;1298) (Gulin-R1766-75) (Hudson-R1777-94). The court denied sequestered voir dire (R2243;997), and motions to strike the panel resulted when prejudicial comments were given by citizens in the presence of other prospective jurors. (R1155-56;2020;1560). Other motions to strike the panel were based on the placement of the victims, their families and a television camera next to the jury box over repeated objections. (R1308;1456;1591;1588-89;1749-54; 1991-95;2966-69). Defense counsel accepted the jury under protest, subject to the motions to strike the panel, change of venue and over requests for more challenges. (R2064-67).

FACTS CONCERNING THE MOTION TO DISQUALIFY STATE ATTORNEY'S OFFICE

On October 17, 1992, a local newspaper reported that the Clerk of the Court, Mr. Newell Thornhill, denied accusations of "judge shopping" in the Taco Bell case while speaking at a local bar function and explained that the case had been moved to DeLand at the request of the State Attorney to prevent students from attending the trial. (R2919). Both defendants moved to disqualify the State Attorney's Office based on that misconduct. (R2913-19). A hearing (R773-933) on November 6, 1992 showed that, pursuant to the Chief Judge, the Clerk was to use a blind rotation system to assign capital cases. (R849-53;877-78). The "Taco Bell" case would have been assigned to Judge Briese had that normal rotation been followed. (R844;857).

Judge Briese returned from vacation and learned from the courthouse computer that he was to arraign the defendants in the Taco Bell case. (R866). His judicial assistant was also told by the clerk's office that he was to be assigned the Taco Bell case. (R895-96). Assistant State Attorney Damore contacted Judge Briese's office and asked for hearing time for a motion⁴ for the public defender to withdraw and for the matter to be expedited. (R789;897). He was told by Judge Briese's judicial assistant that the public defender would have to set his own hearing and that the case would neither be expedited nor treated differently than any other first-degree murder case because that was a firm rule of Judge Briese. (R897-98).

The Clerk stated that Mr. Tanner came to his office and asked for the Taco Bell case to be tried in the DeLand area:

Thornhill: We were talking and the other people in the office got up and walked out. I don't know if they went outside the door or where. I don't think the state attorney ever sat down. He just stood up. And I was standing up also and talking to the other gentlemen that had left. And he just said that he has some serious concerns with the Taco Bell case being held in Daytona Beach and would like for the case to be tried in the DeLand area.

(R798).

Mr. Thornhill testified that he had merely repeated Mr. Tanner's request to a deputy clerk who assigned the capital case to Judge Orfinger. (R803). However, that deputy clerk testified that

⁴ The State filed a Motion to Appoint Counsel dated May 14, 1992. (R2161). The defendants were indicted May 19, 1992 (R2167) and arraigned May 22, 1992. (R2168).

Mr. Thornhill, though apprised the chief judge's administrative order that controlled assignment of capital cases, directed that the Taco Bell case be assigned to the west side of the county at the request of State Attorney Tanner. (R841-43). At that time, Judge Orfinger was the *only* judge handling felony cases on the west side. (R841). When Judge Briese learned that the case was no longer assigned to him he called the Clerk to find out why and was told, "I don't want to be smart, but I decline to answer." (R876).

Judge Briese, unaware of the State Attorney's request to the Clerk, notified Chief Judge McFerrin Smith of his suspicions that the Taco Bell case was being manipulated. (R891-92;884-86). Judge Smith contacted the Clerk and was told that the case had been assigned at the request of the State Attorney for security reasons and to prevent truancy of high school children. (R888-89). Those reasons did not seem credible to Judge Briese but he declined the Chief Judge's offer to have the case reassigned to him because he believed that no judges were involved in the manipulation and that no favoritism was going to result. (R885;893-94).

Based on the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing, Judge Orfinger found that the case had been assigned at the request of the state attorney (R922) and noted, "this type of situation gives the entire judicial system a black eye." (R926). However, he refused to disqualify the state attorney's office and imposed no sanction because the defendants could not show actual prejudice. (R931;2970-78). Had the case been assigned to Judge Briese, arraignment would have occurred June 6, 1992.

FACTS CONCERNING THE CRIMES

The testimony of the three surviving Taco Bell employees established that, in the early morning hours of May 9, 1992, after the restaurant closed, Mr. Mason and Ms. Van Ness went outside to empty the trash and were there confronted by Jeffery and Anthony Farina. (TR103-108). Jeffery was armed with a pistol and Anthony with a knife; both wore gloves. (TR109-110). The employees were ordered into the restaurant where the two more employees were rounded up - three were held at gunpoint at the rear of the restaurant by Jeffery while Anthony had Ms. Gordon open the safe and hand over that day's receipts. (TR111-13). It appeared to Mason (TR111;141) and Gordon (TR372) that Anthony was in charge.

There were repeated assurances that no one would be hurt. (TR118;337;376). The women smoked cigarettes. (TR115-16;335;371-72). Mason did not smoke and was taken by Jeffery into a back area where his hands were tied behind him⁵ with rope brought by the Farinas. (TR109;115-16). Robinson's hands were next tied in the same manner. (TR117-18;335). Anthony then tied the hands of Ms. Van Ness and Ms. Gordon. (TR120;336;373).

Anthony told the employees to go into a walk-in cooler and refused to push a red "Emergency" button to turn off the refrigeration because he was concerned it would set off an alarm. (TR120-121;338;374-75). After talking briefly with his brother, Anthony entered the cooler and told the employees to walk into the

⁵ Jeffery Farina had first asked Mr. Mason to place his hands where they would be comfortable. (R117).

freezer located at the rear of the cooler. (TR122;338;380). They did and Robinson was then shot by Jeffery. Robinson testified that Anthony had the knife and was standing behind Jeffery, who was grimacing with "a look of disgust" on his face. (TR339). Robinson felt something hit him but did not see a bullet hole - he thought blanks were being fired (TR339) but realized he was shot when he saw blood on Derek's face. (TR339-40). Michelle was shot and she dropped to the floor. (TR339-40). The gun misfired when aimed at Ms. Gordon, and Jeffery obtained the knife, tried to stab her in the head and then stabbed her in the back. (TR340-41).

Derek Mason testified that soon after they entered the freezer Jeffery aimed the gun at Robinson's chest and pulled the trigger - Robinson said "ah" and sat down. (TR122-23). When the gun was aimed at him, Mason stepped aside and, though struck in the face, he did not really feel anything. (TR124-25). The gun misfired and he sat down. (TR125). Mason looked down, saw blood, heard a shot and saw Ms. Van Ness fall as if dead. (TR125-26). Trying to stay calm, he saw Anthony hand Jeffery the knife and saw Jeffery stab Ms. Gordon. (TR127-29). Mason played dead until the Farinas left and then untied himself, as did Robinson, and they went to get help. (TR130-31). The event lasted twenty minutes. (TR141).

Ms. Gordon remembers seeing Anthony in the restaurant earlier that evening as she was counting money. (TR362;385). She knew Anthony, having worked with him before at a different Taco Bell. (TR368). Ms. Gordon testified that the shooting began when they turned around after stepping into the freezer. (TR380). She

saw Robinson get shot, then Mason, and then Van Ness. (TR380). When the gun was pointed at her she shielded herself and felt her head forced down, heard a grinding noise as the knife struck her head and then felt herself being stabbed in the back. (TR380-81). She sat down, was aware of blood coming out of her mouth and then she passed out. (TR381-82). She awoke in the hospital five days later. (TR382).

When arrested, Jeffery possessed a receipt from a K-Mart indicating that he had purchased .32 caliber bullets, gloves and clothesline just after noon on May 8, 1992. (TR200-201;210-12;286-87). A total of \$2,158 was taken from Taco Bell, and when arrested the Farinas possessed \$1,885, including \$83 in coins contained in a Taco Bell bag. (TR193-94;365;202-03). Part of the conversation between Jeffery and Anthony Farina was published to the jury. (TR298-301;State's Exhibits 58 & 59; See, Appendix E).

FACTS ESTABLISHED AT PENALTY PHASE

The jury found the Farinas guilty on all counts as charged and the penalty phase began the next day. Repeated objections were made to argument contained in the State's opening statement which emphasized the young age of the victims. (TR585-94). The victims were called to the front of the courtroom by the State to re-enact the crime but were prevented from doing so by defense objection. (TR605-13). Defense objections were sustained when the State then called the murder-victim's father to the stand to present "victim impact" testimony contrary to prior unequivocal rulings. (TR614-20). The State rested without presenting any evidence. (TR621).

The defendants presented testimony showing they came from a very dysfunctional family. (TR627). Their mother, when 18 years old, married a man who was 58. (TR716). Anthony, born on November 20, 1973, was physically abused for the next five years. (TR717-18). Their mother left with the children after Mr. Farina hit Anthony with a crutch. (TR718-19). Homeless, they lived on a beach in St. Petersburg for an entire year when the boys were 6 and 7 years old. They slept in an automobile when it rained and on the beach when it did not; they took salt-water baths in a cooler; they used the rest room at a nearby gas station. (TR724-26).

Their mother married James Brant in the summer of 1980 when Anthony was seven. (R719). Brant was a mentally disturbed Viet Nam veteran known to be aggressive and violent. (TR758-59). Their house was soiled with dog feces - beer cans littered the yard. (TR762-63;800-801). The Brants would sit on the porch, drink beer and then toss the empty cans into the front yard. They were commonly under the influence of alcohol. (TR832-33). Brant made the children watch as he beat their mother. (TR732). He routinely beat the children with the buckle end of a belt for periods of 15 to 20 minutes. (TR720; 730-31;760). He beat Anthony daily, but Jeffery was "only" beaten a couple times a week. (TR730-31;744). Brant once hit Jeffery in the head with a wrench with such force that the tool bounced off Jeffery's head and broke a truck's windshield. (TR731).

In 1987, Brant was convicted of abusing the children and Anthony was placed in a foster home by the Illinois Department of

Children and Family Services. (TR48;757-60). Then 11-years-old, Jeffery was left with his mother and young sister. (TR770-72;840-41). That same year, after going from 110 to 88 pounds in two weeks and developing seizures, Jeffery was taken to a doctor who diagnosed epilepsy. (TR702-06). The doctor recalled that Jeffery was "very quiet, receptive" (TR709), very withdrawn and that he would not volunteer things when his mother was around. (TR711). Jeffery's mother left in 1986 to avoid having her other children placed into care by the state agency. (TR731-32;739). At the time of the Taco Bell incident, Jeffery, his mother, sister, Anthony, Anthony's fiancee and her two children, and John Henderson were staying in a one-room apartment that cost \$165.00 a week. (TR749;753).

Anthony at eighteen-years-old weighed over 200 pounds and was 6'3" tall. (TR842). Sixteen-year-old Jeffery was a typical child, kidded by co-workers about peach fuzz on his face. (TR310; 910). Jeffery had a fake identification card indicating that his name was "Buddy Chapman" and that his birthday⁶ was June 2, 1971 - an age old enough to legally work but too young to drink. (TR280-82;309-310). At thirteen, he got his first job washing dishes at a Sheraton (TR733), and at the time of the robbery he was working at least 40 hours a week and giving his earnings to his mother. (TR733-34). He was a very hard worker who helped without being asked. (TR913-17;905-909). Jeffery was a soft-spoken child who walked women employees to their cars at night. (TR909). His actions

⁶ Jeffery Farina was born July 27, 1975. (R2713).

at Taco Bell were definitely out of character for him. (TR909;917). In that regard, Jeffery expressed remorse to the co-workers who came to see him in jail (TR916-17), his brother (State's Exh. 58) and the court.

Over objection, the State argued that under these facts age was an aggravating consideration (TR1010-13), and concluded by arguing there were almost four young people rotting in the ground - that there were almost four grieving mothers this past Mother's Day. Objections were overruled (TR1017-18) and the jury recommended death by a 7-5 margin for Anthony (R2639) and by a 9-3 margin as to Jeffery. (R3041).

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