IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

DEC 22 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

JEFFREY ALLEN FARINA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 80,985

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FL. BAR. #302015
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

IV APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED A FAIR TRIAL ON GROUNDS OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

State Attorney John Tanner approached Volusia County Circuit Court Clerk Newell Thornhill before or during the time indictments were being handed down in regard to the instant case (R 796-797). Mr. Tanner indicated he was concerned that the Taco Bell case was being held in Daytona Beach and would like the case to be tried in DeLand, where they had tighter security. He expressed his bigger concern, that he didn't want students in the courtroom when the trial was going on because it was gong to be very emotional (R 798). He did not ask the clerk to transfer the case (R 799). The clerk was not aware that the case had been transferred to a judge on the east side (R 800). He was not aware that the grand jury was meeting that day (R 803). The clerk referred Mr. Tanner to Mrs. Hendricks who was in charge of

the criminal division (R 803). The case was assigned to Judge Orfinger (R 805). It ended up in DeLand (R 807). The clerk was not aware that there was an administrative order that dealt with the assignment of capital cases until a day or two later (R 816).

Chalynn Faller overheard Mr. Thornhill tell Ms. Hendricks that Mr. Tanner had asked him if he would assign the case to Judge Orfinger (R 821). Ms. Hendricks indicated it was contrary to the administrative order regarding assigning capital cases. She indicated Judge Briese would be next on the rotation (R 824). Mr. Thornhill said he did not know there was an administrative order, then left. Ms. Hendricks instructed the DeLand felony department to assign the case to Judge Orfinger (R 825). Faller testified on cross-examination that the case was never assigned to Judge Briese. The cases are not even given numbers until the indictment comes down, therefore, there was no judge assigned to it (R 825). In a case where an individual is charged with an attempted murder the judge assigned at first appearance would not necessarily hear the case where the victim dies and an indictment is forthcoming. The clerk would go to a whole new random rotation (R 827). There is no guarantee Judge Briese would have anything to do with the case once there was an indictment (R 828). Cases are routinely transferred pursuant to an agreement between circuit judges. At the time of indictment there had already been an emotionally charged funeral for Michelle Van Ness (R 831).

Criminal Director Nancy Hendricks testified that Mr. Thornhill had asked that the Taco Bell case be assigned to the

west side of the county. Judge Orfinger was the only judge on the west side handling felony cases (R 841). Mr. Thornhill indicated Mr. Tanner had asked him to have the case assigned to the west side for security reasons, since they had better security there and they were afraid school children would be skipping school (R 842). The cases were assigned on a random rotation basis (R 842). She told Mr. Thornhill that was not normally the way to assign cases (R 843). Judge Blount could handle the case at any time as a retired judge. Any judge could be assigned to try a case in DeLand (R 846). The assignment of a capital case to a division does not assure who the judge will be. Mr. Thornhill only asked that the case be assigned to the west He never specifically asked for Judge Orfinger to be assigned (R 847). Mr. Thornhill would not know what judge was coming up next (R 849). All capital cases are blind filed and assigned a judge at the time a case number is generated. pursuant to the administrative order clerk the responsibility to reassign upon the random rotational basis. Sometimes there would be a judge already assigned to a case then when the case is indicted upon the clerk may reassign it through the random rotational assignment. If a party wanted to change courts they would have to file a motion with the court (R 853). If they had gone exactly through normal rotation Judge Briese would have been the next judge (R 858). The clerk has the authority to bump a case to another judge who had less capital There was nothing improper in the request to Mr. Thornhill, according to the administrative order (R 859).

if the defendants had been assigned to a different division, that did not guarantee who the circuit judge would be who tried the case. Judge Orfinger could very easily have ended up trying this case (R 860).

Judge Briese testified that he saw his name assigned to the case on CJIS pre-indictment (R 868). It was his understanding the case would be his (R 870). When he found out he no longer had the case he called the clerk's office (R 8710. Rae Nissley told him to call Mr. Thornhill (R 872). He called Mr. Thornhill but got no answer as to why the case was not assigned to his division (R 873). Judge Briese indicated it was a possibility that if an individual was initially arrested for an attempted murder charge and the victim died and an indictment was forthcoming, the judge who was initially assigned the case from a blind filing system might have the case transferred to another division. The case would be subject to change by the clerk and the nature of the charges (R 879). After Judge Briese had spoken to Mr. Thornhill he called the chief judge to advise him he felt the system was being manipulated (R 884-85). The chief judge offered to give the case back to him but Judge Briese did not ask for it back (R 886). No case is finally assigned in capital cases until the indictment (R 892).

Judge Orfinger properly refused to disqualify the state attorney's office (R 932). Appellant had no standing to have Judge Orfinger removed from the case. A litigant does not have standing to enforce internal court policy, which is a matter of judicial administration and a proper concern of judges of the

particular court and of the administrative supervision of the judicial system. Kruckenberg v. Powell, 422 So. 2d 994 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). This is so because no matter how a judge is assigned to a case the simple fact remains that "in legal contemplation judges, like litigants, are all equal before the law." 422 So. 2d 996. That being the case, appellant cannot demonstrate that he was prejudiced by the prosecutor's actions nor are any due process concerns implicated. While a prosecutor can be removed from the case in conflict situations, see, Castro v. State, 597 So. 2d 259 1992), there is no authority for disqualifying (Fla. prosecutor in a situation such as this. There simply is no The control and conduct of the trial is within reason to do so. the province of the trial judge, who is presumed to not only know, but apply the law, and is quite capable of curtailing misconduct. Clearly no benefit accrued to the state by virtue of the fact that the case was assigned to Judge Orfinger who had no role in the assignment of the case. Judge Orfinger was ultimately disqualified, in any event, and the trial conducted by Judge Blount (R 1063). Appellant has failed to show how the fairness of the trial, conducted by a different judge not contemplated any party, could have been affected by any prior machinations of the prosecutor. Appellant has failed to demonstrate how being arraigned two weeks early has worked to his detriment.

Appellant next complains of improper argument during penalty phase opening statement. Appellant is correct in that opening statement is ordinarily a preview of what will hopefully

be presented. In the context of the penalty phase, however, there is an important distinction. The state has already put on most of its evidence in the guilt phase and does not waste the time of the court by duplicationally putting on the same evidence again in the penalty phase. The state can't do a "roadmap" kind of opening statement and by necessity there may be some elements of review in the state's opening.

No contemporaneous objection was made to the prosecutor's statement that "you have come to know the terror and the horror that four young people came to on that evening" (T 585). objection was not interposed until the prosecutor made entirely separate statement (T 585). If error is to be based on improper argument by counsel, objection must be made at the time the argument is presented in order to preserve it for appeal. Wasko v. State, 505 So. 2d 1314 (Fla. 1987). The belated objection was made on grounds other than the ground now argued. appellant's liberal use of italics it would appear he is now complaining about the prosecutor's reference to the youthful age of the victims. Nowhere was that argued below. It was quite clear from the guilt phase that all the victims were young. The flowery language of the prosecutor hardly implanted seeds of prejudice or confusion so as to lead to fundamental error. arguments are not considered grounds for mistrial nor reversal unless they are highly prejudicial and inflammatory. State, 307 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975).

An objection was made to the prosecutor's statement "they attempted to murder each of those young people" on the grounds

that it was not opening statement but argument. The objection was overruled (T 588). No argument was made that such statement was intended to inflame the passions of the jury. A challenged argument of a prosecutor will be reviewed by the appellate court only when an objection to it is timely made, and the issue will be deemed waived if the defendant did not object on the specific ground that he urges on appeal. Black v. State, 367 So. 2d 656 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979).

No objection at all was raised to the prosecutor's statement "They kidnapped each of these young people." (T 588). This issue is waived. Wasko v. State, 505 So. 2d 1314 (Fla. 1987).

An objection was made and sustained to the prosecutor's statement "They should not benefit by the fact that we only had one child dead on that cold floor" on the grounds that it was argumentative, not on the ground now raised, that it inflamed the passions of the jury. No motion for mistrial was made. This issue is waived. Black v. State, 367 So. 2d 656 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979); Holton v. State, 573 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 1990). Even if it could be considered it is not egregious enough to warrant a new penalty phase.

The defense objected to the prosecutor's statements "Consider the circumstances of this crime. Is this an ordinary robbery where someone walks into a store? This was no ordinary robbery," only on the grounds that it was argument and the objection was sustained on that basis alone (T 589). No motion for mistrial was made. Nowhere did the defense complain that the argument inflamed the passions of the jury. This argument is

also waived. Any error was harmless. It obviously wasn't an ordinary robbery. Such fact could have been pointed out in closing argument. That it was noted instead in opening is hardly prejudicial.

No objection was made at all to the prosecutor's later references to "young" people or to the question "Why was Michelle Van Ness ruthlessly murdered." (T 591). This issue is waived. $Wasko\ v.\ State,\ 505\ So.\ 2d\ 1314\ (Fla.\ 1987).$

The prosecutor's question as to why the "children" were moved from the cooler to the "execution chamber" was objected to and sustained only on the ground that it was closing argument, not on the ground now raised (T 591). No timely motion for mistrial was made. This argument is also waived. Black, Holton, supra.

The prosecutor's statement "As Derek described to you the young girl who held onto his shoulder, held onto his arm as he tried to console her, as she contemplated her death -- " was again only objected to and sustained on the grounds that it was argumentative, not on the grounds now argued (T 592). No request for curative instructions or a motion for mistrial was made. This issue is also waived. Black, Holton, supra.

The statements "And was this a cold, calculated, and premeditated killing? Can there be more of an obvious execution style --," were again only objected to and sustained on the basis that it constituted argument, not on the grounds now argued (T 592). No curative instructions were requested or motion for mistrial made. This issue is waived. Black, Holton, supra.

No contemporaneous objection was made to the reference to "two young girls and two young boys." This issue is waived. Wasko, supra.

The prosecutor then stated:

In our history there have been others that have moved people into the cold chambers, bound and tied, unsuspecting like lambs. Consider whether or not this was an execution style killing. Weigh that aggravating factor (T 592-93).

The defense made only a general objection to the above argument of the prosecutor, which was sustained by the trial court. In order to preserve as issue for appeal, a specific legal ground must be presented to the trial court. Bertolotti v. State, 565 So. 2d 1343 (Fla. 1990). The defense then made a motion for a mistrial on the grounds of extreme prosecutorial misconduct which was also denied (T 593). Even assuming the motion for mistrial saved this issue for appeal, no relief is warranted. Ouestionable statements that do not incite the passions and fears of the jury are not unconstitutional, and a new trial will not ordinarily be granted because of improper appeals by counsel to the sympathies of the jury unless it appears that the passions or prejudices of the jury have been aroused, or that the jury has been misled and has based its verdict on considerations beyond the evidence, or that the remarks influenced the jury to render a more severe sentencing recommendation in a capital case than it would have otherwise. Valle v. State, 474 So. 2d 796 (Fla. 1985). reference to the "cold chambers" is not as flowery as it may appear at first blush, given the fact that a freezer is a "cold chamber" and that is exactly what the victims in this case were

herded into. That is exactly what the evidence showed. evidence also showed that the victims were, for the most part, "unsuspecting like lambs," at least up until the point they began to plead for their lives, although Michelle Van Ness was, nevertheless terrorized. The reference to "others" that have moved people into the "cold chambers" could refer to virtually any other past criminal endeavor. Whether the murder was execution style was an appropriate jury consideration. The major impropriety with the prosecutor's statement is that it wasn't limited to a discussion of facts he intended to substantiate. See, Spaziano v. State, 429 So. 2d 1344 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). extraneous, flowery language in opening statement, however, was hardly of the magnitude to cause the jury to render a more severe sentencing recommendation. The facts previously and subsequently presented reflect that this was an unusual execution-style murder, which took place in a freezer and was obviously cold, calculated and premeditated.

An objection to the prosecutor's statement "And consider the actions of Jeffrey and Anthony as they acted in concert to eliminate these children as their witnesses" was made and sustained solely on the basis that the prosecutor was continuing to argue, not on the ground now raised on appeal (T 595). This issue is waived.

It is true as appellant argues "it is the duty of the trial judge to carefully control the trial and zealously protect the rights of the accused so that he shall receive a fair and impartial trial." Kirk v. State, 227 So. 2d 40, 42-43 (Fla. 4th DCA

1969). That this was done in this case is no more obvious than when one reflects upon the silence of defense counsel during the majority of the argument. Those objections that were raised were largely made by counsel for Anthony Farina (T 585; 588; 591; 592; Counsel for appellant largely complained that statements were argumentative (T 589). Counsel committed even more waiver by not requesting curative instructions. State, 456 So. 2d 471 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984). Counsel did not join in the motion for mistrial after the prosecutor's reference to the victims being "unsuspecting like lambs." (T 593). Present appellate counsel was even at the trial below. He apparently sees new error only in hindsight. It is clear that counsel below felt the main problem with the state's opening argument was only that it was closing argument, not that it improperly inflamed the jury or led it astray. Any such error is harmless considering the evidence actually available for jury consideration at the penalty phase, which was susceptible to similar comment closing argument and which led to the proper application of aggravating and mitigating factors.

The trial judge further protected the rights of the appellant by sustaining objections to the state's proposed reenactment and refusing to allow the victim's father, Mr. Van Ness, to testify (T 610-611; 618-619). The intent of the prosecutor is of no consequence since this evidence was not placed before the jury. The prosecutor could well ask, in any event, a predecessor judge to reconsider the ruling of the previous judge regarding victim testimony and arguably had a leg to stand on by virtue of Payne v. Tennessee, 111 S.Ct. 2597 (1991).

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